FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/20/2019 4:55 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON

NO. 97350-4

CLERK IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

TOMMY ROSS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

Court of Appeals No. 52570–4-II Clallam County Superior Court No. 5603

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK B. NICHOLS Prosecuting Attorney

JESSE ESPINOZA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

223 E. 4th Street Port Angeles, WA 98362 (360) 417-2527

Nancy Collins 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101

Email: nancy@washapp.org, wapofficemail@washapp.org

I.	IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	ARGUMENT 8
	A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW OF THE COURT
	OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE CRITERIA UNDER RAP
	13.4(b) HAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED. 8
	1. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the holdings in <i>State v. Iniguez</i> , <i>State v. Radcliffe</i> , and also the U.S. Supreme Court decision in <i>Smith v. Hooey</i> , and the federal case in <i>U.S. v. McConahy</i> .
	2. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States is involved due to the <i>Ross</i> holding which relied upon a reading of <i>Pomeroy</i> and <i>Romeo</i> in a manner that is inconsistent with the U.S. Supreme Court case in <i>Smith v. Hooey</i> .
	3. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States is involved due to the Ross Court's reliance upon the presumption of prejudice in order to dismiss the case despite acknowledging that Ross never asserted his speedy trial rights and that he acquiesced to the delay
VI	CONCLUSION 20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

U.S. Supreme Court Cases
Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 521, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 2187,
33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972)
Doggett v. U.S., 505 U.S. 647, 659, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 2694,
120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992) (Justice O'CONNOR, dissenting)
Doggett v. U.S., 505 U.S. 647, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 2694, 120 L.Ed.2d 520
(1992) (Justice THOMAS, with whom THE CHIEF JUSTICE and
Justice SCALIA join, dissenting)
Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 383, 89 S.Ct. 575, 579,
21 L.Ed.2d 607 (1969)
U.S. v. Loud Hawk, 474 U.S. 302, 304, 106 S.Ct. 648, 650,
88 L.Ed.2d 640 (1986)
U.S. v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 7-8, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 1502,
71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982)
Washington Supreme Court Cases
State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 283, 217 P.3d 768 (2009)
State v. Ollivier, 178 Wn.2d 813, 826–27, 312 P.3d 1 (2013)
Washington Court of Appeals Cases
S.S. v. Alexander, 143 Wn. App. 75, 92, 177 P.3d 724 (2008)
State v. Radcliffe, 139 Wn. App. 214, 224, 159 P.3d 486 (2007)10, 11
State v. Ross, 2019 WL 2181701 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2019)
Federal Cases
People v. Romeo, 12 N.Y.3d 51, 904 N.E.2d 802 (2009)12, 14
United States v. Pomeroy, 822 F.2d 718, 721-22 (8th Cir. 1987)
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The petitioner is the State of Washington. The petition is filed by Clallam County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Jesse Espinoza.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals published decision in *State v. Ross*, No. 52570-4-II (May 21, 2019), in which the Court held that "the extraordinary delay in prosecuting Ross violated his speedy trial right."¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are met, and this Court should thus accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals holding that the trial court violated the defendant's due process rights by requiring restraints without an individualized showing of their need in non-jury proceedings, where:

1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the decision of this Court in *Ollivier*, where the Court clarified that "[b]ecause the state right is substantially the same as the federal right and we

¹ State v. Ross, 2019 WL 2181701, at *1 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2019).

² State v. Ollivier, 178 Wn.2d 813, 826, 312 P.3d 1 (2013) (citing State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 282, 217 P.3d 768 (2009); State v. Fortune, 128 Wn.2d 464, 474–75, 909 P.2d 930 (1996) (federal cases can provide guidance in interpreting the state constitution)).

employ the same balancing test that was adopted by the United States Supreme Court, federal case law concerning the Sixth Amendment right is highly relevant to application of the state constitutional provision in a given situation." The Court of Appeals decision diminishes the importance of the factor regarding the assertion of the speedy trial right when the accused is imprisoned in a different jurisdiction and acquiesces to the delay; and

2. The petition involves a question of law under the U.S. Constitution regarding what efforts a State must undertake to bring the accused to trial before delay violates the speedy trial rights of the accused imprisoned in another jurisdiction and the State's efforts to extradite were futile and thereafter the accused acquiesced to delay. The Court of Appeals' holding looks past a critical part of the holding of *Smith v. Hooey*,³ which clarifies that when the accused is imprisoned by another jurisdiction, it is the demand for a speedy trial that triggers the State's constitutional duty to make a diligent, good-faith effort to bring the accused to trial. Finally, the Court of Appeals decision raises the question whether prejudice may be presumed or whether actual prejudice must be established when accused acquiesced to the delay.

³ Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 383, 89 S.Ct. 575, 579, 21 L.Ed.2d 607 (1969).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Clallam County Prosecuting Attorney's Office charged Tommy Ross with Aggravated First Degree Murder on June 10, 1978 alleging that Ross murdered Janet Bowcutt on April 24, 1978. CP 117. That same day, the Clallam County Superior Court issued a warrant for Ross's arrest based on Prosecuting Attorney Craig Ritchie's Affidavit of probable cause. CP 118–19.

Ross was subsequently charged with the crime of Murder in Victoria, B.C., for murdering Janice Forbes three weeks later on May 14, 1978 in the same manner as the Bowcutt murder: by hog-tying his victim and leaving the victim to self-asphyxiate. CP 25, 118, 234, 150. A warrant for Ross was issued for this crime as well. CP 25.

Additionally, a warrant for Ross's arrest was issued in Los Angeles for Attempted Rape and Burglary. CP 25. Ross was eventually arrested in California on Dec. 22, 1978 on all three warrants. CP 25.

Ross waived extradition to Canada on Jan. 11, 1979 to face the Canadian murder charge in Victoria, B.C. CP 200, 236. Ross was convicted by a jury for the Canadian murder charge in 1979. CP 150, 235. Prior to Ross waiving extradition, newly-elected Clallam County Prosecutor, Grant Meiner and Canadian Crown Counsel in Victoria, Richard Anthony, agreed that Ross would be returned to the United States

after his trial in Victoria, B.C., regardless of the outcome. CP 201–02, 217, 235. The 1971 extradition treaty between Canada and the United States allowed for extradition in such a situation at the discretion of the requested state, which was Canada. CP 221, 360. Meiner also received a telegram stating that if Ross was acquitted of the Murder charge in Canada, that Ross would be deported back to the U.S. as an undesirable alien. CP 202, 210, 217.

Prosecutor Meiner, after thorough review of both the Port Angeles and Victoria cases determined that the Victoria case was likely stronger as there was an eyewitness that placed Ross at the scene. CP 202. Meiner determined that the Port Angeles case would benefit by waiting until the conclusion of the Victoria trial because of the similarities between the cases, Meiner would possibly be able to use the Victoria facts in his case-in-chief to help prove identity under ER 404(b). CP 202–03, 299.

Years later, on Sept. 13, 2017, the evidence of the Janice Forbes Victoria murder was ruled admissible at Ross's upcoming Port Angeles murder trial as similar facts evidence. CP 1157, 1166.

Meiner also consulted with a United States Attorney and determined that a delay to allow the Victoria case to proceed first would not affect Ross's speedy trial rights. CP 202.

However, nearly six months later Canadian authorities informed

Prosecutor Meiner that Anthony was no longer employed as Crown Counsel and that it was the position of the Ministry of the Attorney-General, that Canada would not turn over Ross to the United States until he had served his sentence for the Victoria murder. CP 203, 219. Still, Prosecutor Meiner notified the new Victoria prosecutor that he would be moving forward with extradition proceedings. CP 204, 221. A member of the Canadian Department of Justice and the new Crown Counsel, R. D. Law, in Victoria both wrote to Meiner and reiterated that Ross would not be returning to the United States until he was done with his 25 year sentence if extradition proceedings were undertaken. CP 204, 224, 232, 238. Digby Keir from the Canadian Dept. of Justice informed that Ross could be returned without an order for extradition when and if released from parole. CP 225. Ross would be first eligible for parole after serving 25 years. CP 238; State's Ex. F, at 30–31.

Meiner therefore determined that pursuing formal extradition proceedings to bring Ross back to Clallam County would be futile. CP 204. Furthermore, Prosecutor Meiner believed that formally applying for extradition could lengthen the time it would take to bring Ross to trial in Clallam County and that Ross could be returned quicker through deportation if granted parole which could occur in eight to ten years. CP 205–06. Meiner declared under penalty of perjury, that Mr. Ross never

requested to be returned to Clallam County to face the murder charge. CP 206

About eight years later, in 1987, while serving his sentence in Canada, Ross applied to be transferred to the United States and he was appointed counsel to represent him. CP 148–49, 160. The transfer was approved as of Dec. 10, 1987. CP 157, 159.

Regardless of the State's fears, Ross reconsidered his request to come back to the United States and decided to remain in Canada during a hearing with a U.S. magistrate on June 16, 1988. CP 163. The magistrate reviewed the issues and inquired whether Ross knew about his outstanding arrest warrant in Port Angeles, Washington, and Ross stated that he was aware of that warrant. CP 169. After consulting with is appointed attorney, Mr. Kirchheimer, Ross withdrew his request for a transfer during a hearing with a U.S. magistrate that holds transfer hearings. CP 166.

Ross continued to dabble in the possibility of returning to the United States for the subsequent 28 years. He sent a letter dated March 7, 1994, to the Port Angeles Police Department asking about the status of the Clallam County case. CP 296. Ross made another request for transfer to the U.S. in 2007, which was approved in 2008, only to withdraw the request after corresponding with a U.S. Federal Public Defender, Thomas Hillier. CP 190–93, 195–967, 213, 284–86; State's Ex. D at 8–11.

The Canadian Parole Board released Ross on Nov. 10, 2016. CP 288. Ross had his preliminary appearance in Clallam County Superior Court on Nov. 16, 2016. An original trial date of January 2017 was set but Ross waived his right to a speedy trial and the trial was reset for Aug. 28, 2017. CP 2361–62. Since then, both sides have requested continuances, including Ross at the most recent status hearing on August 14, 2018, in order to allow new counsel for Ross, Myles Johnson, to get up to speed on the case to assist defense counsel, Lane Wolfley. CP 493–96.

Finally, Ross filed a motion to dismiss based on an alleged violation of his speedy trial rights on August 27, 2018. CP 433. The trial court, granting the motion to dismiss, entered its findings and conclusions of law on Oct. 23, 2018. CP 24–31. The State appealed.

The Court of Appeals, Div. 2, in its published opinion, stated that the general rule is that "when a defendant is incarcerated outside of the country, the State has a constitutional obligation for speedy trial purposes to make a good faith, diligent effort to secure his or her return to the United States for trial." *State v. Ross*, 2019 WL 2181701, at *8 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2019) (citations ommitted).

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that *Smith v. Hooey* and *U.S. v. McConahy* "expressly state that this rule applies only if the defendant demands that the State make an effort to return him or her for trial." *Ross*,

2019 WL 2181701, at *8, n.5. The *Ross* Court concluded that Ross made no demand for a speedy trial and that he did arguably acquiesce to the delay. *Ross*, 2019 WL 2181701, at *12, *13.

The Court of Appeals found that the "the State's failure after 1980 to seek extradition or even inquire about obtaining Ross's transfer to Clallam County weighs against the State." Ross, 2019 WL 2181701, at *9. Further, the *Ross* Court found that the State failed to affirmatively rebut the strong presumption of prejudice and that, although Ross arguably acquiesced to the delay, the State could not overcome the strong presumption of prejudice. *Ross*, 2019 WL 2181701, at *13.

The *Ross* Court held: "Considering all the *Barker* factors, we are constrained to conclude that the balancing test weighs against the State. [W]e hold that the State violated Ross's speedy trial right under the United States and Washington Constitutions." *Ross*, 2019 WL 2181701, at *14.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE CRITERIA UNDER RAP 13.4(B) HAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court

of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the holdings in *State v. Iniguez*, *State v. Radcliffe*, and also the U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Smith v. Hooey*, and the federal case in *U.S. v. McConahy*.

A significant issue before the *Ross* Court was whether the State failed to exercise a duty of diligence by failing to seek extradition of Ross from Canada after 1980. The *Ross* Court cited the U.S. Supreme Court case of *Smith v. Hooey* and other Federal Circuit decisions and a Federal District Court decision for the following principle:

The general rule is that when a defendant is incarcerated outside of the country, the State has a constitutional obligation for speedy trial purposes to make a good faith, diligent effort to secure his or her return to the United States for trial.

State v. Ross, 2019 WL 2181701, at *8 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2019) (citations omitted).

The more complete holding of *Smith v. Hooey* is as follows: "Upon the petitioner's demand, Texas had a constitutional duty to make a diligent, good-faith effort to bring him before the Harris County court for trial." *Smith v. Hooey*, 393 U.S. 374, 383, 89 S.Ct. 575, 579, 21 L.Ed.2d 607 (1969) (emphasis added).

The Ross Court acknowledged this complete holding in a footnote:

Smith and McConahy expressly state that this rule applies only if the defendant demands that the State make an effort to return him or her for trial. Smith, 393 U.S. at 383, 89 S.Ct. 575; McConahy, 505 F.2d at 773. But other cases state the rule without reference to the defendant's demand. See Pomeroy, 822 F.2d at 721-22; Romeo, 12 N.Y.3d at 57, 876 N.Y.S.2d 666, 904 N.E.2d 802. And some cases hold that an obligation to make a diligent effort to return the defendant for trial applies even if the defendant is a fugitive. See, e.g., United States v. Bagga, 782 F.2d 1541, 1543-44 (11th Cir. 1986).

State v. Ross, 2019 WL 2181701, at *8 n.5 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2019).

"The United States Supreme Court is the final authority on the federal constitution." *State v. Radcliffe*, 139 Wn. App. 214, 224, 159 P.3d 486 (2007) (citing *Cooper v. Aaron*, 358 U.S. 1, 18, 78 S.Ct. 1401, 3 L.Ed.2d 5 (1958)).

In *Radcliffe*, the Court of Appeals, Division 2, was faced with the question of what law was controlling on the Federal constitutional question "on how *Miranda* applies to a suspect's equivocal request for an attorney." *State v. Radcliffe*, 139 Wn. App. 214, 224,159 P.3d 486 (2007). The *Radcliff* Court held that the U.S. Supreme Court case in *Davis* and not the Washington Supreme Court case in *Robtoy* was the controlling authority on that constitutional question. *State v. Radcliffe*, 139 Wn. App. 214, 224,159 P.3d 486 (2007) (comparing *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994); *State v. Robtoy*, 98 Wn.2d 30, 653 P.2d 284 (1982)).

In doing so, the *Radcliffe* Court pointed out that Article I, section 9

was held to be coextensive with that of the Fifth Amendment and that Radcliffe had not argued the Washington State Constitution provided greater protection and did not provide analysis under *State v. Gunwall*. *State v. Radcliffe*, 139 Wn. App. 214, 224, 159 P.3d 486 (2007) (citing *State v. Earls*, 116 Wn.2d 364, 374–75, 805 P.2d 211 (1991); *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)).

Here also, in *State v. Iniguez*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the speedy trial rights under Washington Const. Article I, section 22 "requires a method of analysis substantially the same as the federal Sixth Amendment analysis and does not afford a defendant greater speedy trial rights." *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 290, 217 P.3d 768 (2009).

Therefore, as in *Radcliffe*, the U.S. Supreme Court's decisions on the Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial are the final authority. Lower Federal Court decisions are not.

Similarly, U.S. Supreme Court decisions interpreting federal statutes are binding on the Washington Supreme Court and lower federal courts decisions are not, although they are given great weight as persuasive authority. *See S.S. v. Alexander*, 143 Wn. App. 75, 92, 177 P.3d 724 (2008) (citing *N. Pac. Ry. Co. v. Longmire*, 104 Wash. 121, 125, 176 P. 150 (1918); *Home Ins. Co. of New York v. N. Pac. Ry. Co.*, 18 Wn.2d 798, 808, 140 P.2d 507 (1943)).

The *Ross* Court adopted an abridged version of the holding of the U.S. Supreme Court in *Smith v. Hooey*, recognized in *U.S. v. McConahy*. *Smith v. Hooey*, 393 U.S. 374, 383, 89 S.Ct. 575, 579, 21 L.Ed.2d 607 (1969); *U.S. v. McConahy*, 505 F.2d 770, 773 (7th Cir. 1974).

The *Ross* Court instead adopted the rule as worded in *Pomeroy* and *Romeo* although those cases involved different circumstances wherein the defendants asserted their right to a speedy trial. *United States v. Pomeroy*, 822 F.2d 718, 721-22 (8th Cir. 1987); *People v. Romeo*, 12 N.Y.3d 51, 57, 876 N.Y.S.2d 666, 904 N.E.2d 802 (2009).

Thus, by ignoring the requirement from *Smith v. Hooey* that the defendant make a demand for trial before requiring the State to make a diligent effort to extradite, the *Ross* Court gave greater weight to the lower federal court opinions in *Pomeroy* and *Romeo*, than to the U.S. Supreme Court case in *Smith v. Hooey*.

The *Ross* Court's more abridged rule had a major role in the overall holding affirming the dismissal for violation of Ross's right to a speedy trial. Ross never made a demand for trial. Rather, Ross purposefully acquiesced to the delay for his own purposes. In particular, Ross decided to withdraw his request to transfer his Canadian prison sentence to the United States in 1988, with the knowledge of his pending Murder charge in Clallam County, because his counsel advised it would be

more to Ross's advantage to wait to be paroled in Canada first. *See U.S. v. McConahy*, 505 F.2d 770, 773 (7th Cir. 1974) (discussing the rule from *Smith v. Hooey* where failure to seek extradition is not weighed against the State where the defendant fails to make a demand and pointing out that "In a sense the delay resulting from a defendant's imprisonment in another jurisdiction is attributable to him.").

There is a conflict between the *Ross* decision and *State v. Radcliffe* and *State v. Iniguez* requiring Washington Courts to follow Supreme Court precedent rather than lower federal courts on decisions regarding personal rights under the U.S. Constitution. Therefore, the State requests that the Court accept review.

2. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States is involved due to the *Ross* holding which relied upon a reading of *Pomeroy* and *Romeo* in a manner that is inconsistent with the U.S. Supreme Court case in *Smith v. Hooey*.

The circumstances of *Pomeroy* and *Romeo*, where the accused made a demand to be brought to trial, did not necessitate mention that it was the demand of the accused that triggered the State's duty of diligence.

In *U.S. v. Pomeroy*, Pomeroy requested extradition to North Dakota to stand trial. 822 F.2d 718. The government's case was dismissed because it did not seek to borrow the defendant under the current extradition treaty with Canada. *Id.* at 719. Pomeroy demanded his right to

a speedy trial. Here, Ross did not.

In *People v. Romeo*, Romeo was serving a sentence outside the country and he repeatedly asserted his right to a speedy trial. 12 N.Y.3d at 54. The *Romeo* Court found that the State did not act with diligence to secure the presence of the defendant for trial because the State made no request for extradition and there was nothing in the record demonstrating that an extradition request would have been futile. *Id.* at 57.

Whether there was a demand for a trial was not at issue because it was clear that the accused in *Pomeroy* and *Romero* did demand a speedy trial. Thus it was not necessary to mention the requirement of the demand before examining whether the State fulfilled its duty of diligence in bringing the accused to trial.

Thus, the *Pomeroy* and *Romeo* opinions are consistent with the full rule as stated *Smith v. Hooey* and yet they are applied in an inconsistent manner in *Ross* which suggests that the demand is not necessary.

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