FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/22/2019 4:39 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97350-4 (COA No. 52570-4-II)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TOMMY ROSS,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLALLAM COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

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

## E. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals and trial court accurately applied the well-established test to conclude the State violated Mr. Ross's constitutional right to a speedy trial.

1. The constitutional right to a speedy trial requires the prosecution act with diligence.

The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 guarantee a speedy trial to any person accused of a crime. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 290, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). Article I, section 10 further dictates that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered . . . without unnecessary delay."

"The right to a speedy trial is 'as fundamental as any of the rights secured by the Sixth Amendment." *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 290 (quoting *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 515 n.2, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972), *Klopfer v. North* 

Carolina, 386 U.S. 213, 223, 87 S. Ct. 988, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1967)). The "right has its roots at the very foundation of our English law heritage," where, "the delay in trial, by itself, would be an improper denial of justice." *Klopfer*, 386 U.S. at 223-24.

Washington has adopted the multi-factor test set forth in *Barker* to determine whether speedy trial rights have been violated. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 290. Under the *Barker* inquiry, the court examines: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of his speedy trial right; and (4) the prejudice caused the accused by waiting for trial for a long time. *Id.* While no single factor is dispositive, the reason for the delay is the most significant of the *Barker* factors. *United States v. Loud Hawk*, 474 U.S. 302, 315, 106 S. Ct. 648, 88 L. Ed. 2d 640 (1986). The burden is on the government to justify the delay. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531.

The trial court ruled the State violated Mr. Ross' right to a speedy trial. The court issued its ruling after reviewing multiple lengthy written pleadings and holding oral argument.

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  The Sixth Amendment states, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial  $\ldots$ ." Article I, section 22 similarly provides, "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall

CP 24-25; see CP 70-492. The trial court also presided over many pre-trial proceedings, was familiar with details of the case, and could assess the delay's effect on the evidence available for trial. 10/2/18RP 10; CP 24-25; see, e.g., CP 1157-65 (ER 404(b) ruling); CP 1076-84 (CrR 3.5 ruling); CP 2462-65 (rulings on motion to dismiss); 5/20/17RP 9-120 (hearing on allegation police lost or forged evidence).

The trial court issued written findings of fact, most of which are unchallenged verities on appeal. Its factual determinations are given "considerable deference" on appeal.

\*Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 652, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 120 L. Ed.3d 520 (1992) (appellate court gives "considerable deference" to trial court's determination of government's speedy trial diligence).

Affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals also closely reviewed the record, held oral argument, and issued a detailed written opinion. It concluded the balance of the *Barker* factors weigh against the State and result in the violation of Mr. Ross's right to a speedy trial. Slip op. at 28. These findings are

have the right . . . to have a speedy public trial."

squarely supported by the record and solidly established by settled law.

The State's petition for review misconstrues the law and misrepresents critical facts. It downplays, to an extreme degree, its own responsibility for the delay even though both the trial court and Court of Appeals ruled the State's own conduct violated Mr. Ross's right to a speedy trial. It manufactures legal questions that are either irrelevant or inaccurate. This Court should deny review of this fact-specific assessment of an unusual and extraordinary delay of 38 years that the State triggered at its inception and then repeatedly, affirmatively perpetuated, ultimately making it impossible for Mr. Ross to receive a fair trial.

a. The length of the delay is extraordinary.

The trial court and Court of Appeals concluded the 38 years of delay is extraordinary. CP 55; Slip op. at 12.

Delay is generally considered "presumptively prejudicial" for purposes of the constitutional right to a speedy trial as it extends beyond one year after charges are filed. *Doggett*, 505

U.S. at 652 n.1. The "presumption that pretrial delay has prejudiced the accused intensifies over time." *Id*.

The nearly four decades of delay certainly "crossed a line from ordinary to presumptively prejudicial." *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 283; *see* 10/2/18RP 9 (defense counsel explained, "To my knowledge . . . no one person has ever had to wait 38 years to receive his day in court").

b. The prosecution triggered this delay at its inception and never took available legal action to mitigate it.

The trial court and Court of Appeals ruled the prosecution's lack of diligence in prosecuting the case caused the delay at its inception and, after purposefully delaying its case, the State never acted on available legal avenues to bring Mr. Ross to trial more quickly. CP 30. The reason for delay is the "flag all litigants seek to capture" because it is accorded the most weight of all *Barker* factors. *Loud Hawk*, 474 U.S. at 315.

The petition for review does not dispute the State's blameworthiness, although it either ignores or minimizes the effect of its decisions, including sending Mr. Ross to Canada rather than affording him the opportunity to be arraigned in

Washington, have a lawyer appointed, and prepare to confront the allegations.

After the prosecutor decided to send Mr. Ross to Canada rather than initiate prosecution in Washington, the State never formally sought extradition and never directly appealed to government officials who control extradition matters. CP 29.

The State asserts these efforts would have been futile, but the law did not bar extradition and the State never tried.

The petition never addresses changes in extradition laws that would have made it far easier to obtain Mr. Ross's presence in Clallam County if it wanted to proceed with its prosecution in a more timely fashion. *See* Response Brief at 20-23.

It ignores its own affirmative efforts to delay prosecution when Mr. Ross was in Canada. In 1987, it withdrew its warrant for Mr. Ross's arrest because it heard he had requested a prison transfer to the United States and it was not prepared to prosecute him. CP 2452-53. In 2002 and 2003, a lawyer contacted the police and prosecution for Mr. Ross, asking if an arrangement could be made to bring Mr. Ross to trial without the death penalty, but the prosecutor refused. Yet another

prosecutor had previously removed the death penalty as a possible punishment, but Mr. Ross did not know this. CP 272, 274, 276, 280-81, 2447-48. In 2014, the prosecution conceded the case was too old to realistically prosecute and dropped its warrant. CP 28, 672, In 2016, the State asked the Canadian parole board to deny Mr. Ross parole, even though Mr. Ross' parole was essential for the State to pursue its case. CP 427-28.

The litany of State-initiated efforts to delay or derail a trial cannot be disregarded in the speedy trial calculus. The reason for the delay is the most significant of all *Barker* factors and the State bears the burden of proving it is not responsible for it. As the trial court and Court of Appeals concluded, it is inescapable that the State caused and prolonged the delay in bringing Mr. Ross to trial.

c. As an illiterate man imprisoned in a foreign country without counsel, Mr. Ross had no realistic opportunity to effectively demand a speedy trial and he never waived the right to a speedy trial.

The trial court ruled all *Barker* factors, including the defendant's assertion of his speedy trial right, weigh heavily against the State. CP 30. The Court of Appeals was more

forgiving to the State. It ruled Mr. Ross's failure to assert his right to a speedy trial weighs against him to a degree, but did not accord it a heavy weight in recognition of the limited opportunities Mr. Ross had to demand a speedy trial. Slip op. at 24.

Mr. Ross was never brought to a court in Washington where he could voice any complaint about the delay. He had no lawyer assigned to represent him in this case. He was illiterate and held in various prisons in a foreign country, making his self-study of the law nearly impossible. Further, the State misled him into believing he continued to face the death penalty even though this allegation had been removed by 1987, which would inappropriately reduce his incentive to press for a trial.

Even if it can be said that Mr. Ross could have done more to pursue a speedy trial, he was in a vastly less advantageous position than the prosecution to bring the case forward. He was held in another country's prison and illiterate, while the State was staffed with well-educated lawyers who appear in court every day. Any mechanism reasonably available to him to effectuate his right to a speedy trial is greatly outweighed by the

State's repeated decisions to delay his trial and lack of diligence in pursuing his case.

d. Actual and presumptive prejudice follows this extraordinary delay and denies Mr. Ross his right to a speedy trial.

"Excessive delay presumptively compromises the reliability of a trial," even when no party can prove or identify the exact prejudicial effect. *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 654, *quoting Barker*, 407 U.S. at 532. *Barker* identified three types of prejudice stemming from speedy trial delay: "oppressive pretrial incarceration," the "anxiety and concern of the accused," and the "possibility that the accused's defense will be impaired by dimming memories and loss of exculpatory evidence." *Id*.

The "most serious" of these forms of prejudice is possible harm to the defense, "because the inability of a defendant adequately to prepare his case skews the fairness of the entire system." *Id*.

To rebut the presumptive prejudice stemming from 38 years of delay, the State must affirmatively prove Mr. Ross's ability to defend himself is "unimpaired." *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 658 n.4. The "possibility" that Mr. Ross's defense "will be

impaired" constitutes prejudice in the speedy trial context when there is extraordinary delay. *Id*.

The trial court ruled the resulting prejudice was not merely speculative, but was actually impaired Mr. Ross' ability to mount a defense. CP 29 (FOF XX); Slip op. at 26-27. The trial court was familiar with the potential trial evidence, having presided over pretrial litigation involving claims of lost evidence and allegations of misconduct or perjury involving potential evidence. See, e.g., CP 1076-84, 1157-65, 2462-65.

The prejudice the speedy trial right protects is not limited to loss of trial evidence. *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 654; see Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 378-80, 89 S. Ct. 575, 21 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1969). This prejudice includes having to serve a longer sentence based on the loss of concurrent time. Smith, 393 U.S. at 578. It includes the anxiety produced by another pending charge and its interference with a person's access to and inclination toward rehabilitation. Id. at 379. Finally, it is "self-evident" that long delay imposed an accused's ability to defend himself, and confinement in prison in another jurisdiction "obviously" impairs an accused person's access to counsel or ability to keep track of

witnesses. *Id.* at 379-80. Excessive and extraordinary delay, in the course of a case where the prosecution triggered the delay and never tried to mitigate, violated Mr. Ross' right to a speedy trial.

Review of the Court of Appeals and trial court's application of the settled speedy trial factors is not warranted.

2. In the petition for review, the State makes confusing and misguided representations of the law and tries to manufacture a legal conflict in an effort to obtain review.

The issues for which the prosecution seeks review are not readily understandable. It argues the Court of Appeals erred by looking to federal court decisions rather than Supreme Court rulings, yet the Court of Appeals relied on multiple Supreme Court decisions, cited throughout. Slip op. at 11, 12, 16, 19, 22, 25-28. And there is no bar on examining federal court decisions. Even the State cites federal court decisions it deems useful.

The petition asserts the Court of Appeals failed to adhere to binding Supreme Court precedent set forth in *Smith v. Hooey*. This assertion is puzzling. The State never even cited *Smith* in any of its Court of Appeals briefing, indicating its lack of

application here, and the State's newfound reliance on it rests on reading the decision out of context.

In *Smith*, the defendant was already serving a federal prison sentence when the state filed charges against him. 393 U.S. at 376. When the defendant learned of the charges, he wrote letters demanding to be brought to state court for trial or have the charges dismissed. *Id*. The State insisted it was "totally absolved from any duty" to bring a person to court if confined in a federal prison. *Id*. at 377. The Supreme Court disagreed. *Id*.

It ruled that imprisonment in another jurisdiction compounds the harm that the speedy trial rule has long protected. *Id.* at 378-79. A person imprisoned on another charge in a different jurisdiction faces "self-evident" impairment to his ability to mount a defense. *Id.* at 379-80. The delay also aggravates the nature of the sentence the person may serve if convicted, as concurrent sentences become unavailable and the existence of outstanding charges may make it harder to obtain parole or access rehabilitative programs. *Id.* at 378-79.

The prosecution's petition for review asserts that Smith rests strictly on the fact that the defendant had made a written

demand for a speedy trial. Petition at 9, 12. But while appeal originated with a defendant who explicitly demanded an immediate trial or dismissal of the charges, nowhere does the Court hold this demand was the controlling factor to stablish a speedy trial violation. In fact, *Smith* stands for the opposite proposition, that a state is not absolved of its duty to provide a speedy trial because a person is incarcerated elsewhere. 393 U.S. at 377-38.

Smith also predates Barker. In Barker, the Court gave more thorough explanation of the speedy trial test. 407 U.S. at 524-29. This Barker test is what this Court adopted as the appropriate framework for analyzing a speedy trial violation.

Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d at 290.

Barker held a defendant is never required to bring himself to trial. Barker, 407 U.S. at 527. It also explained that the weight given to a defendant's failure to object to delay depends on the circumstances, because it is not fair to treat a defendant as responsible for delay who did not know how or when to object and was not kept informed about the delay. Id. at 528-29.

Barker expressly rejected a rule that would require a defendant to demand a speedy trial in order to have the right to one. 407 U.S. at 524-28. It emphasized that the "primary burden" to "assure that cases are brought to trial" rests on the courts and prosecutors, not the defendant. Id. at 529. As Barker explains, a defendant's own efforts to pursue or hamper a speedy trial are simply one of the factors the court may consider in determining a speedy trial violation.

In sum, this case is resolved by application of settled law.

The decisions below are the product of close attention to the law and the underlying facts. Review should be denied.

## F. CONCLUSION

Respondent Tommy Ross respectfully requests that review be denied pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).